IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,518

GROVER REED,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

M. ELIZABETH WELLS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0866067

KENNETH D. DRIGGS Special Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 304700

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In December 1985, Grover Reed, a woman companion, and two children, arrived in Jacksonville from Tennessee. Through Traveler's Aid they met Irvin and Betty Oermann who allowed them to live in their home December 11-22, 1985. Sometime after that, Mr. Reed's party established themselves in a nearby mobile home park. The Reeds and the Oermanns continued to be involved in what Mr. Oermann described as a helping relationship (R. 368-374). On February 27, 1986, Mr. Oermann left his wife at home about 5:40 - 5:45 p.m. He returned at 9:50 p.m. and found his wife had been murdered (R. 385-386).

On April 2, 1986, Mr. Reed was arrested. The public defender was appointed shortly after Mr. Reed's arrest (R. 2) and an experienced assistant, Alan Chipperfield, was assigned the case (R. 5). The public defender filed a number of motions on behalf of Mr. Reed (R. 23-88, 91-204) including a Notice of Intention to Claim Alibi based upon the testimony of Mr. Mark Stephen Rainey (R. 27-28). Having determined through discovery that the state's case would be heavily dependant on the testimony of experts, the public defender on July 24, 1986, filed a Motion to Incur Costs of Expert Witnesses (R. 39-41).

The day after the public defender filed the bulk of his motions the prosecutor sought to remove him from the case. In a Motion for Court to Determine Conflict of Interest the state disclosed that it was listing a public defender client, Mr. Dell Spearing, as a witness for the prosecution and asked the court to

remove the public defender (R. 89-90). The trial court granted the state's motion and appointed Richard Nichols as substitute trial counsel for Mr. Reed (R. 205). The state later elected not to use Mr. Spearing, the source of conflict, at trial.¹

The trial court granted the public defender's motion for defense experts but substitute trial counsel indicated he would not need them (R. 79-81). At trial the state presented expert testimony purportedly linking Mr. Reed to the crime through hair (R. 652-675), fingerprints (R. 676-712), and blood (R. 627-640).

The fingerprint expert testified not only that he had found Mr. Reed's fingerprint on a check found at the scene, but that through a chemical test he could determine that whoever left the print was sweating heavily and that it was made within ten days (R. 685-689). Both these points, which went unrebutted by trial counsel, became central to the state's guilt phase closing argument (R. 775-777).

The body fluids expert testified that the victim had blood type O and was a secretor, meaning trace elements of her blood could be found in other body fluids (R. 632). He testified that Mr. Reed had blood type O but was a non-secretor, meaning trace elements of his blood would not be found in his body fluids, including sperm. (R. 634). Here, spermatozoa was seen on slides confirming its presence. (R. 637). The expert then detected "on the vaginal swab H antigenic activity. Now, H antigenic activity

¹Mr. Reed contends that the state's action was deliberately designed to manipulate the quality of his representation.

is consistent with or is equivalent to blood type O" (R. 637-38). The expert then testified that these findings were consistent with Mr. Reed being the perpetrator (R. 638), ignoring the earlier statement that Mr. Reed was a non-secretor and the victim a type O secretor, and leaving the impression this was incriminating evidence (R. 634). Again, the prosecutor relied heavily on this testimony in his guilt phase closing argument (R. 772). The jury was confused about the body fluids testimony, asking to have it transcribed for their use in deliberations. The trial court refused, having the testimony read to them instead. (R. 830-835).

The defense rested without presenting any guilt phase testimony (R. 716-720). A conviction followed (R. 836-837). Trial counsel then entered into a stipulation with the prosecutor that no penalty phase testimony would be presented to the jury, (R. 846-847), and the jury heard nothing further. The jury deliberated twenty (20) minutes and returned an 11-1 death recommendation. (R 909-910).

The public defender had filed a written objection to unconstitutionally vague statutory aggravating factors of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated (R. 63). Trial counsel expressly adopted the motion (R. 37), but it was denied by the trial court (R. 48-49).

The jury was instructed on six aggravating factors:

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence: One, the defendant has been previously convicted of another capital offense or

of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to The crime of sexual battery and the crime some person. of robbery are felonies involving the use or threat of violence to another person. Two, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to Three, the crime commit the crime of sexual battery. for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; four, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for financial gain; five, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel; six, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(R. 897-898).

Before sentencing trial counsel gave the Court extensive mental health records on Mr. Reed which had not gone to the jury:

MR. NICHOLS: All right, sir. Your Honor, as I indicated, we will not -- we don't have any witnesses to be called to present anything to the Court at this time. However, I'd like to file with the clerk and ask the Court to consider the sentencing hospital records from Hendersonville Hospital <u>that have to do with Mr.</u> <u>Reed's mental state as a result of some drug dependency</u> and some toxic response to some lead from, I think it was what they allege was sniffing gasoline over a long <u>period of time</u>, and I'd also like to file with the clerk and ask the Court to consider the records from the Department of Mental Health and Mental Retardation of Middle Tennessee Mental Health Institute which relate to Mr. Reed's past emotional and drug problems.

Your Honor, I have a couple of <u>additional letters</u> to file with the clerk and ask the Court to consider and I believe -- I don't know what date the Court is going to set for the actual sentencing. I'm under the impression that I'll be receiving some additional letters which I'd like to, if I might, just file with the clerk and have a copy of it delivered to your office so that you'll have those available to you as you consider this matter.

(R. 921-922) (emphasis added).

In sentencing Mr. Reed to death the trial court found all six of the aggravating factors that the jury was instructed on present (R. 389-91). The court rejected all statutory mitigation, noting that trial counsel stipulated he was not entitled to the mitigating factor of "no significant criminal history", that Mr. Reed's age of 25 was not significant, and that the defense presented no evidence that the mental mitigators were present:

While no evidence was offered to show that any of these three mitigating factors existed, the Court has, nonetheless, considered the psychiatric examination report of Dr. Ernest Miller and Karen Kaldor, dated October 31, 1986, and finds that there is no evidence to sustain a finding that any of the three factors exist.

(R. 391-392).

As to non-statutory mitigation, the sentencing court observed "no evidence has been presented to show the existence of any other factors which should be considered in mitigation" (R. 392). The trial court did not address the hospitalization records belatedly presented by trial counsel.

The sentencing court concluded with the observation that in the complete absence of mitigation no weighing was necessary:

It is, therefore, clear to the Court that no mitigating factors exist and consequently the extreme weight of the statutory aggravating circumstances that exist demands that this Court follow the recommendation of the jury.

(R. 392).

Trial counsel's appointment carried over to direct appeal. On June 1, 1987, he filed a ten page, one issue brief. The

single argument was three pages and three lines long. The argument challenged the state's exclusion of black jurors based on <u>Swain v. Alabama</u>, 380 U.S. 202 (1965), making no mention of <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), or <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). This court recognized the inadequacy of trial counsel's appellate work and directed that it be rebriefed:

The Court has received an initial brief in this appeal of a death sentence which raises only a single point and which does not address the appropriateness of the death sentence. <u>On its face this brief does not</u> <u>appear to be a good faith effort to address all the</u> <u>issues available on appeal</u>. We, therefore, relinquish jurisdiction of this cause to the trial court and direct that court to, within fifteen days, <u>determine</u> <u>either that Reed's current counsel can fulfill his</u> <u>responsibilities as an appellate lawyer by filing an</u> <u>adequate supplemental brief or that new counsel should</u> <u>be appointed</u>.

<u>Reed v. State</u>, No. 70,069 (September 9, 1987) (emphasis added). Subsequently the office of the public defender took over the appeal and filed a second brief with this Court.

This Court reversed Mr. Reed's convictions under <u>Neil</u> and <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 108 S. Ct. 2873 (1988). <u>Reed v. State</u>, 14 Fla. L. Weekly 298 (Fla. June 15, 1989). The opinion focused on the prosecutor's reasons for excusing three black prospective jurors. The state then filed a Motion for Rehearing and on March 1, 1990, the Court reversed itself, affirming Mr. Reed's conviction and death sentence. <u>Reed</u> <u>v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1990).

This court observed that the critical elements of the state's case were as follows:

The most significant evidence of Reed's guilt may be summarized as follows:

(a) Witnesses said they had seen Reed wearing his baseball cap on the day of the murder before the probable time of death but not thereafter. They positively identified the cap as Reed's because of the presence of certain stains and mildew.

(b) Reed's fingerprints were found on checks that had been taken from the Oermann home and had been found in the yard.

(c) An expert witness gave testimony that hairs found on the body and in the baseball cap were consistent with Reed's hair.

(d) Another expert witness gave testimony that the semen found in the body could have been Reed's.

(e) Reed's cellmate, Nigel Hackshaw, gave testimony that Reed had admitted breaking into the Oermann house and killing Mrs. Oermann.

560 So.2d at 204. Mr. Reed's <u>Neil/Slappy/Batson</u> claims were denied on the inadequate record before the Court. 560 So. 2d at 205-206. In reviewing the death sentence this Court struck two of the six aggravating factors -- prior violent felony and the cold, calculated factors -- but affirmed with the observation "There remain four aggravating circumstances balanced against a total absence of mitigating circumstances." 560 So.2d at 207.

Mr. Reed filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentence With Leave to Amend on February 28, 1992 (PC-R. 1-216). Among other claims, Mr. Reed pled ineffective assistance of trial counsel during the guilt phase for his failure to adequately deal with the <u>Neil/Slappy/Batson</u> hearing; his failure to prepare for the extensive use of expert witnesses in the trial; and his failure to investigate and employ the alibi defense already developed by the public defender. Mr. Reed pled an absolute innocence claim based on expert testimony on body fluids. He pled further ineffective assistance at penalty phase

based on a complete failure to investigate and present substantial legally recognized mitigation.

On April 16, 1992, the trial judge signed an order prepared ex parte by the state giving the state thirty days to file an answer (PC-R. 217). On May 11, 1992, the state filed a Motion to Compel Production of Documents, requesting that Mr. Reed serve an appendix to the Rule 3.850 motion on the state, although Mr. Reed had not prepared an appendix to his motion (PC-R. 218-19). On the same date, the state attorney served via facsimile an Order obtained ex parte from the court compelling production of this non-existent appendix (PC-R. 240).²

On June 1, 1992, the state filed a Motion to Produce asking the trial court to order Mr. Reed to produce the entire trial, appellate, and clemency attorney files (PC-R. 223). Mr. Reed responded to this motion, noting that the state had provided no authority for the novel position that they were entitled to these files (PC-R. 293). The trial court did not grant the state's motion.

On June 29, 1992, the state filed a Response to Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (PC-R. 295-304). In it the state argued that Mr. Reed had no present right to confidentiality in his attorneys files (PC-R. 295). The state opposed an evidentiary hearing on all claims.

²These <u>ex parte</u> orders provided the grounds for a Motion to Disqualify Judge Southwood based upon this Court's opinion in <u>Rose v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992) (PC-R. 239-89). The Motion to Disqualify was granted and the case was reassigned to Judge Wiggins (PC-R. 290-92).

The trial court heard oral argument on July 23, 1992 (PC-RS. 30-96). On August 25, 1992, the trial court summarily denied all relief (PC-R. 309-317). The court denied all claims of ineffective assistance based upon its perception that Mr. Reed had refused to make available trial counsel's files (PC-R. 312-315). However, no order had ever been entered ruling on the state's motion to produce. This appeal timely followed (PC-R. 318).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. Mr. Reed's motion to vacate was dismissed for noncompliance with a non-existent order. In the court below, the state sought to compel undersigned counsel to disclose trial counsel's, appellate counsel's, and clemency counsel's files. Counsel for Mr. Reed asserted that there is no authority for this provided in law, and to compel production of these files would be a violation of the attorney/client privilege. The trial court denied all claims of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon its perception that Mr. Reed had refused to make trial coursel's files available to the state. However, no order had ever been entered ruling on the state's motion to produce.

2. Mr. Reed pled substantial claims relating to ineffective assistance of counsel in both guilt and penalty phase issues that this Court has held require evidentiary hearing. Contrary to this Court's law, the trial court summarily denied relief without attaching any records or files conclusively showing Mr. Reed was entitled to no relief. This summary denial was in error. This court must reverse the order, and order a full and complete evidentiary hearing on Mr. Reed's 3.850 claims.

3. Critical exculpatory evidence was not presented to Mr. Reed's jury during the guilt phase of his trial. Counsel failed to present a credible defense, conceded issues of guilt, failed to know the law, failed to investigate the case, and failed to secure defense experts on Mr. Reed's behalf. In addition, the state withheld critical evidence which proves that Mr. Reed did not commit this crime. No adversarial testing occurred.

4. No adversarial testing occurred during the penalty phase at Mr. Reed's trial. Counsel presented <u>no</u> evidence during penalty phase on Mr. Reed's behalf. Substantial statutory and non-statutory mitigation concerning Mr. Reed's extensive mental history, abusive childhood and drug abuse was available for presentation. Counsel had hospital records documenting Mr. Reed's mental health problems and inexplicably failed to present

these records to the jury. Mr. Reed's sentence of death cannot stand.

5. The prosecutors inflammatory comments and arguments at guilt phase and penalty phase invited the jury to convict Mr. Reed and sentence him to death on wholly impermissible factors. The prosecutor repeatedly resorted to emotional theatrical appeals to the jury. Counsel for Mr. Reed compounded this error by emphasizing many of these irrelevant and emotionally charged points.

6. Mr. Reed's sentence was tainted by improper jury instructions in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth amendments. This court struck two aggravating factors on direct appeal, but no sentencing calculus free from the taint of these unconstitutionally vague factors ever occurred.

7. Access to the files and records pertaining to Mr. Reed in the possession of certain state agencies have been withheld in violation of Chapter 119.01 <u>Et seq</u>., Fla. Stat., The Due Process clause and Equal Protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the Eighth Amendment and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution. Mr. Reed is unable to fully plead his post-conviction issues until he has received and reviewed all public records.

8. In sentencing phase, the burden was shifted to Mr. Reed on the question of whether he should live or die. This impermissible shifting of the burden of proof in the jury instructions deprived Mr. Reed of his rights to Due Process and Equal Protection of law, as well as his rights under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Counsel's failure to object was ineffective assistance.

9. Mr. Reed's trial was fraught with procedural and substantive errors, which cannot be harmless when viewed as a whole since the combination of errors deprived him of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

ARGUMENT I

MR. REED'S MOTION TO VACATE WAS ERRONEOUSLY DISMISSED AND DENIED FOR FAILURE TO PROVIDE THE STATE A COPY OF ALL ATTORNEYS' FILES. ANY WAIVER OF THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE MUST BE NARROWLY CONSTRUED PURSUANT TO THE DICTATES OF FLORIDA LAW AND THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT.

The Circuit Court dismissed Mr. Reed's ineffective assistance of counsel claims according to the order drafted by the state because Mr. Reed failed to turn over to the state a copy of all attorneys' file in collateral counsel's possession. However, no order directing such disclosure was ever entered. Thus, Mr. Reed's motion to vacate was dismissed and denied for non-compliance with a non-existent order.

A. The Facts of the Case.

Mr. Reed filed his motion to Vacate Judgement of Convictions and Sentence With Leave to Amend. He plead ineffective assistance of trial counsel in both the guilt and penalty phases of his trial. Mr. Reed's motion did not quote or cite to any document in trial counsel's file. He did quote extensively from fifteen affidavits in support of his claims. He also identified by name and summarized the anticipated post-conviction testimony of a neuropsychologist and a forensic evidence expert.

The trial court found his motion sufficient to require an answer from the state (PC-R. 217). The state moved to compel the production of an appendix in spite of the fact no case law or court rule required Mr. Reed to file one (PC-R. 218-19). The state through ex parte contact obtained an order directing the filing of an appendix (PC-R. 220). Mr. Reed responded that an appendix had not been prepared (PC-R. 221).³ Undeterred, the state filed another motion to produce all attorneys' files (PC-R. 223-24). Mr. Reed responded to the motion, noting that the state had provided no authority for this erroneous position (PC-R. 293-94). No order to compel production of the files followed.

³At this point in the proceedings, Judge Southwood recused himself because of the ex parte contact initiated by the state.

In their response to Mr. Reed's 3.850 motion the state argued that all his ineffective assistance of counsel claims should be denied if Mr. Reed failed to turn his copies of all defense and clemency attorney files over to the state (PC-R. 295-304).

The trial court heard oral argument in this case on July 23, 1992. The state again argued in favor of its motion for production and that Mr. Reed's ineffective assistance claims should be "stricken" since he had not provide the state with all of defense counsel's files (PC-RS. 43-46). The state took the position that they could not even respond to Mr. Reed's 3.850 without trial counsel's files and dismissed his reliance on the attorney-client privilege as "Peak (sic) a boo law" (PC-RS. 45).

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