JUL 30 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GROVER REED,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 80,518

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0239161

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Mr. Reed's allegations are factually untrue and/or unsupported, are refuted by the record and fail to allege or show "error" or "prejudice" as defined by Strickland, et.al.

(1) THE TRIAL ERRORS

(A) JURY SELECTION

The first series of challenges refer to counsel's alleged failure to argue the \underline{Slappy}^7 issue "effectively" at trial or to develop important background information from some prospective jurors.

The trial court correctly identified Mr. Reed's claim as an attempt to reargue the Neil/Slappy issue (from the direct appeal) under the facade of "ineffective counsel." The use of a claim of ineffective counsel to reargue an appeal or circumvent a procedural bar is improper. See, Breedlove v. State, 595 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1992); King v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1990); Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987) and the court's summary rejection of the barred Neil/Slappy claim was appropriate.

The substantive issue, of course, was reargued in the Rule 3.850 petition on the basis of facts known at the time of the appeal, such as Mrs. Humphries' workmen's compensation claim (ROA 28), and facts which could not have been revealed at trial because they did not exist⁸, such as Mr. Strickland's educational achievements (ROA 31). It should also be noted that two of these venire persons would, at most, have been alternate jurors. Since no alternate jurors were used to replace any petit jurors at trial, there is simply no support for the notion that any of the

 $[\]frac{7}{522}$ State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988).

It should be noted that Slappy v. State, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988), which trial counsel is apparently accused of not consulting, did not exist at the time of Reed's trial.

veniremen in question would have actually participated in the determination of Reed's guilt or sentence.

This Court carefully reviewed this issue on direct appeal and found no reversible error. Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.) cert. denied, 111 S.Ct. 230 (1990). The issue of whether the state violated the Neil/Slappy standard is now settled and is procedurally barred.

(B) GUILT PHASE ERRORS

Mr. Reed made the strategic decision not to call guilt phase witnesses and placed that strategic decision on the record. (R 719). Mr. Reed's speculative claims regarding potential guilt phase witnesses or the fruits of additional investigation are facially deficient under Strickland, supra, see, also, Aldrich v. Wainwright, 777 F.2d 630 (11th Cir. 1985), because said witnesses would not have been used.

(1) "Failure To Seek Experts"

As confessed by Mr. Reed, the original record on appeal contains an order granting Mr. Nichols funds for the hiring of expert witnesses (R 233) and records establishing Mr. Nichols procurement of psychiatric experts (R 218) and at least one other deposition of an FDLE expert (Mr. Luten). (R 212).

While we are not privy to either the fruit of trial counsel's investigation or any communications by Mr. Reed which would have affected the extent of such efforts (see argument one), we do know that Reed's basic claim is refuted by these portions of the record. We also know that Reed elected not to call any witnesses, "expert" or otherwise.

Mr. Reed's petition fails to refute the record and fails to overcome his own strategic decision. Strickland, supra. The record clearly shows that counsel investigated Reed's case and that the defense subsequently elected not to call any witnesses. (R 716-719).

Turning to the specific areas of expert inquiry mentioned by Mr. Reed, we find.

(2) Serology Evidence

Reed alleges

- (A) He is a non-secretor with type-0 blood.
- (B) The victim, Betty Oermann, was subjected to a post-mortem exam which included a vaginal swab.
- (C) The vaginal swab "proved" her attacker was a <u>secretor</u> with type-0 blood, thus proving his innocence.

As usual, however, Reed carefully sidesteps the "entire" record:

- (A) Reed had type-O blood and was a non-secretor, but Mrs. Oermann also had type-O blood and she was a secretor. (R 631)
- (B) The vaginal swab extracted a <u>mixture</u> of her vaginal fluids and his semen. Thus, the presence of the H-antigen "secretor" blood is attributable to Mrs. Oermann. (R 637-638)
- (C) The <u>absence</u> of any <u>other</u> blood tends to show that Mrs. Oermann could have been raped by a non-secretor of the same blood-type. (i.e. Reed). (R 638)
- (D) The titration test run by Mr. Doleman also could have picked up H-antigens from the cell walls of Reed's sperm even if he was a non-secretor, since that antigen bonds to cell walls. (This is an accepted scientific fact set out in the text Applied Blood Group Serology, 2nd Ed. and noted by the trial court without objection.)

Thus, the very premise that Reed's innocence could have been argued is simply not the truth.

(3) Hair Expert

Apparently the person who examined Reed's hair in comparison to hairs on the victim's body made a threshold analysis of the hair to exclude the negroid hair type. If the test had shown that the rapist was of African origin, Reed would have immediately been eliminated as a suspect.

Reed takes this threshold test and conjures up the existence of some mysterious and undisclosed "negro suspect." The claim is, at best, highly suspect, but more to the point is its irrelevance. The hairs recovered from Mrs. Oermann were not negroid but matched Reed's hair. (TR 665-668).

No "error" or "prejudice" exists within this ridiculous claim.

(4) FINGERPRINTS

Mr. Reed's fingerprints were found on checks belonging to the victim, that were found in the back yard of her home. Mr. Reed casually dismissed this evidence as insignificant because he lived for a time with the Oermanns.

Now Mr. Reed contends that an expert could have refuted the state's fingerprint evidence regarding the possible age of the defendant's fingerprints. Mr. Reed offered no evidence at trial, and his Rule 3.850 petition does not allege that he had permission to use the Oermann's checks or to go through their checkbook at any time, before or during the day of the murder.

Again, this highly speculative claim fails to confront the strategic decision by Mr. Reed not to call witnesses and fails to

address the simple fact that trial counsel is not ineffective under <u>Strickland</u> if counsel fails or refuses to put on a defense that is untrue or illusory.

Reed never contends that such an expert would have been called "but for" counsel or that such a defense would have been compulsory because the facts intimated (access to the checkbook) were true. Thus, Reed only sought relief on the rankest speculation.

(C) Failure to Prepare And Present A Credible Defense

The mere existence of some alternate theory of defense does not establish the ineffectiveness of trial counsel. Engle v. State, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Strickland, supra. Thus, Mr. Reed's creative or visionary defenses do not, by their existence, establish error or prejudice by trial counsel.

Mr. Reed's petition suffered from other facial deficiencies First, as noted above, it is apparent from the record that trial counsel took extensive depositions and carefully Second, the strategic decision not to investigated the case. call any witnesses (including Mr. Reed's friend - who obviously knew - Mrs. Niznik) (see brief at 43) was placed on the Strategic decisions are subject to review. record. not Third, if Reed was in fact guilty, counsel Strickland, supra. had no duty to put on any particular defense. Card, supra; Scott, supra; Strickland, supra; DeCoster, supra; Matthews, supra.

The pleadings filed by Mr. Reed, even if taken as true (i.e. another defense was possible) does not allege error or prejudice sufficient to establish ineffectiveness under Strickland.

Before leaving this issue, we will address counsel's alleged failure to impeach Nigel Hackshaw. This allegation merely asserts the existence of cumulative evidence of Hackshaw's criminal past that would have added nothing of substance to the record impeachment of Mr. Hackshaw as a "snitch" who made a "deal." (R 591-593).

Miss Hipp allegedly was charged, but not convicted, of theft of electricity. (Interestingly, CCR's petition indicates that Mr. Reed lived with Miss Hipp while this was going on). Mr. Reed cites to no authority for the proposition that the existence of an unproven accusation is a valid basis for inpeachment of a witness at trial.

(D) Failure To Object To The Prosecutor's Arguments

Mr. Reed lifts various arguments, even to the point of single sentences and sentence fragments, out of context "to accuse" trial counsel of selling out his client to the jury. The record, when read in context, belies the claim and shows neither "error" or "prejudice". <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1992).

The argument quoted at (R 514-515), was Mr. Nichols' statement that the State should not be allowed to introduce drug evidence. In an effort at persuasion, counsel noted that such a reckless move by the State could needlessly jeopardize its case. That persuasive technique is not unusual and is clearly a tactical approach that is beyond second-guessing under Strickland.

The sentence fragments set out from (R 741), at page 49 of the brief, are distorted by Reed. Counsel was <u>not</u> confessing anything to the jury. Rather, he was arguing the jury's duty to hold the State to its burden of proof no matter how horrible the facts of the case. The fact that the murder was horrible is not a confession that Reed committed said murder.

The sentence fragment from (R 792), is again misrepresented by Reed's brief. The <u>actual</u> argument was that the jury should not simply convict Mr. Reed out of anger over the nature of the crime in the hope that he was in fact guilty.

Theft is not robbery. Counsel conceded that Reed's fingerprints on Mrs. Oermann's personal checks might be consistent with "theft" but it did not prove robbery, rape or murder (R 790).

Clearly, Reed's petition failed to allege any basis for relief that was not refuted by the record. The disingenuous representations of "fact" however, did detract from, any presumption of correctness that might ordinarily attach to a 3.850 petition.

POINT IV

MR. REED'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL WAS PROPERLY DENIED

The State and the defense entered into an agreement that kept either side from offering evidence in the penalty phase (R 846). Mr. Reed then personally went on the record to maintain his innocence but stated that he did not want to testify (R 850).

After the penalty phase, Mr. Nichols provided the court with extensive background information on Mr. Reed.

The decision not to put on a penalty phase display of evidence that was inconsistent with Reed's guilt phase defense was an informed strategic decision by Mr. Reed and Mr. Nichols that is not subject to relief under Strickland, supra. State, 617 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1993); Jones v. State, 528 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, Reed's putative "evidence" clearly would not compel a life sentence in the face of the overwhelming aggravating evidence at bar. Thus, Reed has not established "prejudice", Lambrix v. State, 534 So.2d 1151 (Fla. 1988), since allegedly if believable under his "tough youth", the circumstances at bar, was clearly not so atypical as to compel a different sentence. Mendyk v. State, 592 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 1992).

POINT V

THE ISSUE OF IMPROPER ARGUMENT WAS NOT RAISED IN THE LOWER COURT AND CANNOT BE DECIDED ON APPEAL

The issue of prosecutorial misconduct is not only procedurally barred as an issue which, if preserved, could have been raised on appeal, Atkins, supra; Harich, supra, it is also not properly before this Court because it was not raised as one of Mr. Reed's thirteen claims in his motion for post-conviction relief. As such, this issue is not properly before this Court. Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1988).

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT IT HAD NO JURISDICTION TO REVIEW JUDGMENTS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

The sixth point on appeal was rejected by the circuit court because that court had no jurisdiction to review decisions of the Florida Supreme Court. Mr. Reed, on appeal, does not address the

decision <u>sub judice</u>, choosing instead to launch into a "merits" argument without regard for the facts or the law.

Even <u>if</u> the issue had some jurisdictional basis, the subissue regarding the propriety of the trial court's jury
instructions was procedurally barred. <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 612
So.2d 575 (Fla. 1993); <u>Henry v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla.
1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S33 (Fla. 1993); <u>Kennedy v. Singletary</u>,
602 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 1992); <u>Sochor v. Florida</u>, 504 U.S. ___, 119
L.Ed.2d 326 (1992). The merger of these two issues does not
create standing for appellate review.

POINT VII

MR. REED IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, CLAIM

The Chapter 119 issue argued by Mr. Reed was presented as Claim I in his petition, but was not argued or proven by Mr. Reed during oral argument (Supp. Rec. 30-97). The claim itself is a listing of Mr. Reed's suspicions and assumptions regarding records that he thinks might exist and nothing more.

After oral argument, the trial court ruled that Mr. Reed failed to establish any non-compliance with Chapter 119 (R 309). That order sets forth the controlling facts for appellate purposes. Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980); Gilvin v. State, 418 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1982).

The arguments presented by Reed fall into two categories. First, Reed complains that he has been denied access to the

Mr. Reed's "merits argument" is rejected as an incorrect statement of law but will not be addressed in detail since it is procedurally barred.

Governor's "clemency files". Now, of course, we know that he is not entitled to those files. Parole Commission v. Lockett,

So.2d ___ (Fla. 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S258. Second, using "citations" to alleged files and documents that are de hors the record, Reed alleges that these documents have been "stripped" to prevent disclosure.

In <u>Walton v. Dugger</u>, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S. 309, 310 (Fla. 1993), this Court held:

"Obviously, as we noted in <u>Kokal</u>, the state attorney would not be required to disclose information from a curent file relating to the post-conviction relief motion, nor would the state be compelled to produce records not subject to the public records law. In making this observation, however, we emphasize that the state must still disclose any exculpatory document within its possession or to which it has access, even if such document is not subject to the public records law."

This decision, however, would still seem to be subject to Lockett, supra, wherein a writ of prohibition was granted to preclude a trial court from ordering the production of clemency files in a capital proceeding. In fact, Lockett suggests the following procedure:

"We note, however, that while these rules expressly make this sensitive information confidential, they also give the Governor the authority for making such records We are disturbed that no attempt was public. made by the Capital Collateral Respresentative to request the Governor to exercise his authority either to make the records public or to allow the Capital Collateral Representatie to examine them in camera with counsel for the state. We further note that the trial judge was not Capital Collateral informed by the Representative about the provisions of the Rules of Executive Clemency or the procedure in the rules for obtaining the clemency investigative files and reports produced by the Parole Commission for the Governor and Cabinet."

While the <u>Walton</u> decision would appear to provide for <u>in</u> <u>camera</u> review of any public records "not subject to Chapter 119," the <u>Lockett</u> decision granted a writ of prohibition which effectively precluded the production of clemency records for said review. Taken <u>in pari materia</u>, the two decisions make it clear that the Florida Constitution affords special status to the Governor's files above and beyond the "statutory" exemption that applies to other documents which, potentially, <u>could</u> be subjet to disclosure but for the legislature's decision to exempt them.

Thus, Mr. Reed (CCR) had the duty to seek disclosure from the Governor rather than the court. He cannot prevail on appeal. 10

Absent any legal or factual basis for his claim, Mr. Reed cannot prevail.

POINT VIII

THE "BURDEN SHIFTING" ISSUE WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

The "burden shifting" issue offered by Mr. Reed was denied as procedurally barred. The decision was correct, Atkins, supra; Harich, supra, and this issue does not warrant relief.

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